2009

Wilson v. IHC Hospitals Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this Court is proper pursuant to [Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102\(3\)](#).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE I: Did the trial court err in repeatedly allowing defendant IHC to reference collateral source evidence in the presence of the jury, including that the Wilsons did not pay any “out of pocket expenses” for Jared’s care, and that Jared is eligible for Medicaid? *Standard of review and preservation:* The question of whether evidence is admissible can involve “a number of rulings, each of which require a different standard of review.” [State v. Workman](#), 2005 UT 66, ¶10, 122 P.3d 639. Appellate courts review “the legal questions underlying the admissibility of evidence for correctness.” [State v. McClellan](#), 2009 UT 50, ¶17, 216 P.2d 956. Questions of fact are reviewed for clear error. [Workman](#), 2005 UT 66 at ¶10. And finally, appellate courts “review a trial court’s decision to admit or exclude specific evidence for abuse of discretion. [State v. Cruz-Meza](#), 2003 UT 32, ¶8, 76 P.3d 1165. This issue was preserved through a motion and order in limine and repeated objections during the trial by the Wilsons. (Pre-Trial Hearing, 10/23/2008, [R 8600](#), [p. 23](#); Plaintiff’s Motion in Limine Regarding Health Insurance, [R 5414-5419](#))¹

ISSUE II: Did the trial court err in determining that the IHC nurse training modules offered by the Wilsons to establish the negligence of the defendant nurses were authentic and relevant, but lacked foundation? *Standard of review and preservation:* See

¹ R cites refer to the court record. TR cites refer to the trial transcript.

Standard of Review for ISSUE I. The issue was preserved through proffer of the exhibits at trial. (TR 3446-3451)

ISSUE III: Did adverse counsel's ex parte meetings with Appellant's doctors in violation of Utah law prejudice Appellant's right to a fair trial and did the trial court err in allowing Appellant's treating physician, Dr. Stoddard, to act as our expert witness against him? *Standard of review and preservation:* This is an issue of first impression. Where unlawful ex parte communications between adverse counsel and the plaintiff's own doctors have occurred during trial or where adverse counsel, through ex parte communication with plaintiff's doctor, cause a key medical record to be changed, there should be a presumption of prejudice to plaintiff. Allowing Dr. Stoddard to testify in violation of *Barbuto* is a legal determination to be reviewed for correctness. Allowing Dr. Stoddard to testify as an expert not properly designated under Rule 26 is reviewed for abuse of discretion (*Pete v. Youngblood*, 141 P.3d 629 (Utah App. 2006)). These issues were preserved through objections and motions at trial. (TR 1299-1300; 2293-2294; 3141-3154; 3429; 3468-3485; 3541-3542)

ISSUE IV: Did the trial court err in granting IHC's motion in limine and excluding the expert testimony of Dr. Fred Hyde, who would have testified regarding facts establishing the potential bias of the defense witnesses who are physicians practicing in Utah County? *Standard of review and preservation:* See *Standard of Review for* ISSUE I. The issue was preserved in the Wilsons' opposition to IHC's motion and proffered at trial. (R 5835-5902; TR 317-318, 3714-3715)

ISSUE V: Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence a memorandum decision of Judge Gary Stott in another case, which decision contradicted the Utah Court of Appeals’ decision in *DeBry v. Goates*, 2000 UT App 58, 999 P.2d 582? *Standard of review and preservation:* See *Standard of Review* for ISSUE I. The issue was preserved through objection at trial. (TR 2520-2528)

ISSUE VI: Did the trial court’s cumulative errors and IHC’s counsel’s repeated violations of the collateral source rule, *Barbuto*, and other rules deprive the Wilsons of their right to a fair trial? *Standard of review:* “Under the cumulative error doctrine, we reverse only when ‘the cumulative effect of the several errors undermines our confidence ... that a fair trial was had.’” *Utah Chapter of Sierra Club v. Air Quality Bd.*, 2009 UT 76, ¶54, 644 Utah Adv. Rep. 27 (internal quotations omitted).

APPLICABLE STATUTES, RULES, AND ORDINANCES

[Rule 608\(c\) Utah Rules of Evidence.](#)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, and disposition below

This medical malpractice case against IHC was tried to a jury from October 27-November 21, 2008.² During the trial, plaintiff moved for a mistrial (based on *Barbuto* and Collateral Source Rule violations, along with other irregularities), which motion was

² Claims against other defendants were settled on a “litigation-expense-only” basis before trial.

denied. On a 6-2 vote, the jury answered a single special interrogatory regarding IHC's alleged negligence in favor of the defendant.³

Based on the verdict, the trial court dismissed plaintiff's claims with prejudice on December 9, 2008. (TR 7832) Plaintiff's motion for new trial was denied, and this appeal was taken.

Facts

In the latter part of 1994, Leilani Wilson became pregnant with her third child, Jared. Due to complications in her prior pregnancies, she and her husband Jerrie made inquiries and selected a high-risk specialist, Dr. Joseph Glenn. (TR 523). While Dr. Glenn did his job (at least until he left on vacation), the Wilsons' claims are centered on the premise that IHC failed to do its part, and that IHC's failure to follow the plan set in place by Dr. Glenn resulted in the severe disabilities now suffered by Jared Wilson. Jared Wilson is a spastic quadriplegic and is severely mentally retarded.

IHC, the Doctors and the Wilsons Agree on a Plan to Protect Jared

³ On a 6-2 vote, the jury answered the first question regarding IHC's negligence against Jared Wilson and, therefore, answered no other questions (TR 3900). In polling the jury the court asked the question, "Was that your verdict?" (TR 3901-3902). The question was misunderstood by the dissenting jurors who apparently thought they were being asked if this was the jury's verdict. Consequently, all eight jurors answered "yes." The following Monday one of the jurors, Mrs. Phillip, called the court and informed Judge Howard that two jurors had voted against the verdict. This prompted a telephone conference with counsel. It was agreed that steps would be taken to correct the record. (See R. 7125-7130). Later that day, however, defense counsel sent a letter to the court opposing any re-polling of the jury (R. 7124). Accordingly, plaintiff filed a motion to correct the record. (R. 7125-7130) Affidavits were also filed. (R. 7475-7477, and R. 7369-7371) Without addressing plaintiff's motion, the court signed a judgment stating the jury's verdict was 8-0. (R. 7632-7634)

On April 11, 1995, Mrs. Wilson's membranes prematurely ruptured ("water broke") and her husband drove her to an IHC facility, Utah Valley Regional Medical Center ("the hospital"). (TR 524) Dr. Glenn met them at the hospital. (TR 524) At the hospital, the Wilsons also spoke with Dr. Stoddard, a neonatologist specializing in the care of premature babies. Dr. Stoddard was reassuring, telling the Wilsons that the hospital was very capable in caring for premature babies. (TR 525, 526; 669) (The hospital statistics for 1995, which were withheld by IHC until the court ordered their production during the trial, substantiate this assertion.) At his birth, Jared was entered into the hospital's records as a 27-week baby in accordance with the findings of the doctors treating him. (TR 1486, 1487) The survival rate at the hospital for premature babies of 27 weeks gestation in 1995 was 100%, with the vast majority (84%) avoiding significant brain hemorrhage. (TR 1488)⁴

It was decided that Jared should remain in utero as long as it was safe for him to do so. However, with her membranes ruptured, it was known Leilani likely would eventually develop an infection in her womb, "chorioamnionitis." Because chorioamnionitis is known to impair the ability of the mother's body to convey blood (ischemia) and oxygen (hypoxia) to the baby, it would pose severe safety risks to the baby if he was not delivered at the first sign of infection. Jared was also breech. Accordingly, Drs. Stoddard and Glenn explained that the trauma of a vaginal delivery

⁴ After litigation began, IHC claimed Jared was 25 weeks, even though he is repeatedly referred to as being 27 weeks in the medical records. However, even 25 week babies had a 79% chance of avoiding serious brain hemorrhage (TR 1490).

would create an increased risk of brain hemorrhage and must be avoided – meaning that it was imperative that Jared be delivered by C-section. (TR 527-528)

The Wilsons and the care providers agreed on a plan, written in Leilani's medical chart on April 11 (Trial Exhibit 1, p. L00083): 1) to hospitalize her; 2) have her carefully monitored; and 3) perform a C-section delivery at the first sign of either infection, labor, or fetal distress. (TR 529) Mrs. Wilson was hospitalized and remained there until Jared was born nine days later on April 20. (TR 529)

IHC Failed to Follow the Plan

A week after Leilani was hospitalized on April 18, Dr. Glenn went on vacation. (TR 2062) He arranged for a succession of doctors to be called by the nurses monitoring Leilani. The "call schedule" was written down and provided to the nurses. (TR 720; Trial Exhibit 1, p. L00085) Although Dr. David Broadbent was only scheduled to provide coverage for Leilani beginning in the early evening of April 19 until Dr. Steven MacArthur took over on the morning of April 20, Dr. Broadbent was willing to stay involved as long as necessary. (TR 2071). Dr. MacArthur understood that he was on call beginning at 8:00 a.m. (TR 2850) Neither Dr. Broadbent nor Dr. MacArthur had ever met Mrs. Wilson. (TR 531, 542; 2045-2046; 2866)

Significant changes occurred in Leilani's condition the night of April 19. A nurse called Dr. Broadbent and he came in to see her. (TR 2046) Dr. Broadbent remained at the hospital for several hours during the night, expecting to do a C-section in the early hours of April 20. (TR 2060, 2067-68) Dr. Broadbent's detailed evaluation and analysis of Leilani and Jared placed him in a position where he was on the verge of performing

the C-section. (TR 2043) Among other things, Mrs. Wilson had an elevated temperature; however, Dr. Broadbent wanted to wait for her temperature to reach 100.4 degrees Fahrenheit (38 degrees Celsius), which he understood to be the accepted benchmark to officially qualify as a maternal fever. (TR 2060-2061) Dr. Broadbent's testimony is undisputed that once Leilani's temperature reached 100.4 he would have immediately proceeded with a C-section. (TR 2060-2061)

At 4:30 am, Dr. Broadbent went to his nearby home, leaving specific instructions with the attending nurse (Rebecca Berg) to call him immediately when a temperature spike of 100.4 degrees or greater occurred. (TR 2060-2061) Clearly, had he been called, he would have come back to the hospital and performed the delivery.

Moreover, had Dr. Broadbent been informed of the development of decelerations in the fetal heart tracing (see below), he never would have left the hospital at all. (TR 2057). However, nurse Berg let Dr. Broadbent leave without telling him about two severe "decelerations" which appeared in Jared's heart tracing, at 3:24 am and at 4:14 am. (TR 2056) Dr. Broadbent's undisputed testimony is that he would not have left the hospital had Berg advised him of these decelerations. (TR 2057)

At 6:00 am, there was a nursing shift change. The evidence shows that either: 1) Nurse Berg failed to inform her replacement, nurse Mehew, of Dr. Broadbent's explicit instructions; or 2) Nurse Berg told nurse Mehew of Dr. Broadbent's directions, but Mehew simply disobeyed them. (TR 1041-1045). Either way, it is undisputed that Mehew never contacted Dr. Broadbent.

At 6:40 a.m., Mehew recorded Leilani's temperature at 100.9 degrees (TR 1319), but didn't inform Dr. Broadbent, who was still on call for another hour and twenty minutes. Instead, she waited until after 7:00 am and then called Dr. MacArthur. (TR 1323-1325) Because of his lack of knowledge of the circumstances and of Broadbent's decision, Dr. MacArthur did not appreciate the significance of the development. (TR 2908-2912; 2921-2922)

Due to these communication failures, the agreed plan was not followed. Had Mehew called Dr. Broadbent, he would have delivered Jared through C-section by 7:30 am (TR 2059) – seventy minutes before the irreversible harm began.⁵ Instead, Leilani delivered vaginally at 9:33 am (Trial Exhibit 1, p. L00127) (TR 1903), without a physician overseeing her labor. (TR 540-541, 2912-2913) After Dr. MacArthur's late arrival, he commented in the delivery room about the obvious presence of infection, and wrote "grossly infected" in the medical record. (TR 2874; Trial Exhibit 1, p. L00086) Chorioamnionitis was listed as a post-birth diagnosis. (Trial Exhibit 1, p. J00002-J00004) Jared was severely hypoxic (oxygen deprived), was extremely pale, and lifeless. He was not breathing and had no heartbeat. (Trial Exhibit 1, p. L00127) (TR 1506-1508)

Jared Suffered Severe Brain Damage Due to IHC's Failure to Follow the Plan

Due to the immaturity of the blood vessels, premature babies' brains are more susceptible than term babies to brain hemorrhage and trauma, including hypoxic/ischemic insult, is a recognized cause of such hemorrhages. (TR 1123-1132) Inadequate

⁵ According to Appellant's expert testimony, the significant hypoxia/ischemia injury to Jared did not occur until after 8:40 am. (TR 1903-1904) The jury, of course, never reached this issue.

oxygenation damages the small blood vessels which causes them to leak once normal blood flow resumes. This leakage is normally slow and the brain hemorrhages are often undetectable for several days. (TR 1929) An ultrasound done on Jared's brain the day after his birth came out normal. (TR 1926-27) This evidence is important because it is indicative that there was no congenital defect. (TR 1942) Following the pattern of babies who have been subjected to hypoxic/ischemic insults, a second ultrasound done at ten days showed that severe bilateral hemorrhages had occurred in Jared's brain some time in the intervening nine days. (TR 1927-28)

Brain hemorrhages in newborns are classified in Grades I through IV. Grades I and II typically do not result in significant damage, while Grades III and IV do. Jared's were Grade IV, which caused catastrophic brain injury. (TR 1905) Had the severe hypoxic insult been avoided, he would not have been brain damaged. (TR 1954)

Dr. Minton Recognized IHC's Negligence and Encouraged the Wilsons to File Suit

Over the several months following his birth, Jared remained hospitalized, with Drs. Stoddard and Stephen Minton overseeing his care. (TR 583; 1541) A close confidential relationship developed between Jared's father, Jerrie, and Dr. Minton. (TR 583-34, 601-602; 2617) As time passed and the severity of Jared's disabilities became more readily apparent, Jared's parents came to the realization that Jared would need 24 hour a day care throughout his life and that they needed to explore what legal options Jared may have. In the process of doing so, Jerrie consulted Dr. Minton, who encouraged him to bring a claim on Jared's behalf. (TR 601) The Wilsons' legal counsel, who were considering the case, were unwilling to make a decision based on Jerrie's representations

of what Dr. Minton's testimony would be and wanted to speak directly with Dr. Minton before agreeing to take the case. Accordingly, Mr. Wilson arranged a meeting at Tony Roma's restaurant in Provo on September 8, 1998, where Dr. Minton, Jerrie Wilson, and attorneys David Richards and Roger Christensen were present. (TR 2620) After meeting with Dr. Minton, they accepted the case and the legal process was initiated. Mr. and Mrs. Wilson made no claims of their own. Their role has strictly been limited to acting as co-guardians ad litem for Jared with respect to his claims.

1. After an Ex Parte Meeting With IHC's Defense Counsel, Dr. Boyer (One of Jared's Treating Physicians) "Re-Evaluated" His Original Reading of Jared's MRI to Fit IHC's Defense Theory

A critical medical record in this case is an MRI of Jared's brain, which was taken on February 21, 2003, at Primary Children's Medical Center, an IHC facility. Dr. Richard Boyer, the head of the Pediatric Neuroradiology Department at Primary, acting as Jared's doctor and unaware of the pending litigation, interpreted Jared's MRI, concluding that Jared's brain injury was consistent with a hypoxic/ischemic birth injury. (TR 2453-2454) This interpretation was contrary to IHC's defense.

On April 9, 2003, IHC's litigation counsel, JoAnn Carnahan-Bott, accompanied by an IHC Risk Manager, without any prior notice or disclosure to the Wilsons or their counsel, held an ex parte meeting with Dr. Boyer.⁶ (TR 2455) After the meeting, on the same day, Dr. Boyer changed his interpretation of Jared Wilson's MRI, purportedly discovering a congenital abnormality. (TR 2458) Now aware of the lawsuit, Dr. Boyer

⁶ It is important to note that while Dr. Boyer is not an actual employee of IHC, more than 95% of his income is derived from work he performs for IHC. (TR 2449)

also added a comment seemingly directed to a future jury, “there is no need to implicate other causes of brain injury such as infection, neoplasm or external trauma to explain the combination of findings demonstrated on this imaging study.” (TR 2460-2461) (emphasis added) Dr. Boyer even went so far as to bill IHC’s litigation counsel for changing Jared’s medical record. In a letter sent to counsel, he stated:

I am enclosing the addendum dictated after our meeting today in the above case. It is listed as a preliminary report, but has been finalized in our hospital information system. Charge for today’s services for one hour at \$200.

Prompt payment directly to me will be appreciated.

I hope that my services have been helpful to you and your client. I will await hearing from you regarding any further action in this matter. (TR 2455) (emphasis added)

Neither Dr. Boyer nor IHC’s counsel voluntarily revealed the meeting or the reason for the change in the medical record. (TR 2561) On the contrary, reference to that meeting was intentionally excluded:

Q. And you -- you intentionally left out any reference to the meeting with IHC's counsel and risk manager, didn't you?

* * * *

A. There's no reason for that to be in the medical record. The record should not reflect that this is a legal action. What I said in the addendum is that I had the opportunity to review the scans again today, and it would be inappropriate to enter into the medical record the context in which I did that.

Q. The context being a meeting with IHC's counsel and risk manager?

A. That's correct. . . .

(TR 2561)

This meeting and the reason for the change went undiscovered for two years until Boyer was served with a subpoena *duces tecum* to give deposition testimony on September 20, 2005. (TR 2560-61) This is important because Dr. Boyer was Jared's treating physician, thus, this new interpretation was taken at face value and used by all subsequent treating doctors, (TR 2560-61, 2570), and was relied on by the expert witnesses in developing subsequent opinions.

2. Based on the Changed Medical Record, Dr. Boyer Testified Against Jared as an Expert Witness at Trial

After the change, IHC designated and used Dr. Boyer as its main pediatric neuroradiology expert. (IHC's Expert Witness Disclosures, at 752-916) To counter this problematic testimony, the Wilsons retained a highly respected pediatric neuroradiologist, Robert A. Zimmerman, MD. (TR 2970-2988)⁷ Dr. Zimmerman testified that Dr. Boyer's initial interpretation of the MRI of Jared's brain was correct and that Dr. Boyer's finding of cortical dysplasia after his *ex parte* meeting with IHC's counsel had no basis. (TR 3011)

In closing argument, IHC argued that Appellant's own doctor should be believed over a highly paid expert. (TR 3856-3861) "Now, can I just suggest something? You've got Dr. Zimmerman on one side, who is paid to look and not see. You've got Dr. Boyer on the other side who wants to have good patient care . . ." (TR 3861)

3. Dr. Boyer Has Changed Medical Records in Other Cases at IHC's Request

⁷ Dr. Zimmerman has authored portions of approximately 100 medical textbooks (TR 2972-2973). Utilizing an individual of these credentials did not come without a price (\$7,000 per trial day). (TR 3017-3018)

On more than one occasion, Dr. Boyer, at the instance of IHC's litigation counsel and risk management, has changed his interpretation of film studies of the brains of other children in medical negligence cases where IHC was a defendant. (TR 2464) In the case of *Butterfield v. IHC*, Dr. Boyer's interpretation of a CT scan of Kiley Butterfield's brain was "birth asphyxia." After meeting with IHC's litigation counsel, Ms. Carnahan-Bott, and a representative of risk management, Dr. Boyer changed his opinion to "the pattern of brain injury is not typical of an intrapartum hypoxic-ischemic event or birth asphyxia." (TR 2475-76)

Dr. Boyer also admitted that Jared Wilson and Kiley Butterfield were not his only patients where similar things had occurred. He admitted that after having *ex parte* meetings with IHC's litigation counsel his interpretations of radiological studies of the brains of other children seeking damages against IHC in litigation, had been changed. He denied, however, having the ability to remember or discover the names of these other children. (TR 2479-80; 2567)

4. IHC Refused to Produce, and Misrepresented, its Own Statistics Regarding the Probable Prognosis of Premature Babies

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