2009

Wilson v. IHC Hospitals Inc : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Though the Hospital moved to preclude the Wilsons from insinuating that Dr. Boyer acted improperly (R. 4683), the request was denied and the court allowed the Wilsons to attack Dr. Boyer as engaging in behavior that was "unethical, illegal and dishonest." (R. 8614, Vol. 12, p. 2450:16-20.) Dr. Boyer explained that he agreed to meet with the Hospital's counsel because he had been advised by a number of attorneys that when a plaintiff put his or her medical condition at issue, the law allowed him to meet with the attorneys from both sides. (R. 8614, Vol. 12, pp. 2494:25 - 2495:5.) The court appropriately took judicial notice of Judge Stott's 2000 Order after

⁴⁵The court took judicial notice of this order at the same time it took judicial notice of Utah Code Ann. § 78B-1-137 (waiving patient confidentiality when medical condition placed in issue in litigation) (R. 8615, Vol. 13, p. 2520:15-17, p. 2525: 23-24) and allowed this statute to be argued to the jury, to which the Wilsons raised no objection.

the Wilsons' counsel argued extensively with Dr. Boyer about his understanding of the law at the time of the 2003 meeting and accused both Dr. Boyer and Ms. Bott of being "shameless" in that meeting. (R. 7121, Tr. Ex. D-263 (J. Stott's Order); R. 8615, Vol. 13, pp. 2519-28). Judge Stott's Order was introduced not to argue the law to the jury as suggested by the Wilsons, but instead, as the court explained when admitting the Order, because it bore on the "factual issue" of what Dr. Boyer reasonably believed the law to be at the time. (R. 8615, Vol. 13, p. 2527, p. 2599:10-11.) *The Order is relevant because it speaks to the reasonableness of Dr. Boyer's understanding of the law, which the Wilsons chose to attack as baseless and in bad faith.*⁴⁶

d. Jury Instruction No. 39 (the *Barbuto* Instruction) Was Given in Error.

For purposes of its cross-appeal, and only if an error is found requiring remand, the Hospital asserts the court erred in giving part of Jury Instruction No. 39. The last paragraph of Jury Instruction No. 39 states:

A physician has the duty to protect their patient's confidential information. *Since at least March 2000, Utah law has required a physician to notify his patient before disclosing confidential records or communications to the patient's adversary in litigation.*

(R. 8621, Vol. 19, p. 3755:8-15 (emphasis added); see also *id.*, pp. 3730-31 (preserving exceptions until after instructing the jury).) The Hospital objected to the last paragraph of Instruction No. 39. (*Id.*, p. 3897:16-24.) Jury instructions are reviewed for correctness, "granting the trial court

⁴⁶Further, the Wilsons cannot claim error where their counsel proceeded to mark as exhibits and discuss extensively with Dr. Boyer the facts and reasoning of the *Barbuto* and *Debry* cases. (R. 8615, Vol. 13, pp. 2561-69.) The Wilsons had every opportunity to meet, explain, or answer the Order. *Carter*, 563 P.2d at 178. The court did not abuse its discretion and the Wilsons have failed to demonstrate how this alleged error would have altered the jury's verdict given their own discussion of the law with Dr. Boyer. Any error is harmless. *Larsen*, 958 P.2d at 958.

no deference on its view of the law." *Billings*, 918 P.2d at 466.

As noted above, the jury heard testimony that the Hospital's counsel met with Dr. Boyer in April 2003. (R. 8614, Vol. 12, p. 2450:16-20; R. 8615, Vol. 13, pp. 2559:12 - 2561:19, pp. 2591:22 - 2592:16.) Based on Instruction 39, Plaintiffs' counsel argued in closing that the April 2003 meeting with Dr. Boyer was prohibited by Utah law. (R. 8621, Vol. 19, pp. 3805:19 - 3806:2.) Both the instruction and argument are incorrect as a matter of law for the reasons set forth in Section II.B.3(a)-(c), *supra*.

4. Dr. Boyer's Testimony Did Not Affect the Verdict Because the Jury Never Reached Causation and Any Error with Respect to Dr. Boyer was Harmless.

The jury in this case reached a verdict of **no negligence**, finding that the Hospital's care providers acted within the standard of care. The Wilsons recognize that Dr. Boyer's testimony **related only to causation - - a question the jury never reached.**⁴⁷ (Wilsons' Br. p. 41) This issue is thus mooted by the jury's finding of no negligence. See *Alarid v. Am. Appliance Mfg., Inc.*, 2002 UT App 376, 2002 WL 31600260 (refusing to reach causation in case alleging defective design of hot water heater where jury found the product was not defective).⁴⁸ As a result, any perceived error is harmless. See *Larsen*, 958 P.2d at 958.

⁴⁷Dr. Boyer's reading of the February 21, 2003 MRI concluded that Jared had cortical dysplasia, a condition which develops in the first and second trimester of pregnancy, thus further disconnecting Jared's injury from events at or near the time of his birth. (R. 8615, Vol. 13, p. 2547:1-15.)

⁴⁸"[U]npublished decisions of the Court of Appeals issued on or after October 1, 1998, may be cited as precedent in all courts of the State." *Utah R. App. P. 30(f)*.

C. THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED PART OF DR. HYDE'S TESTIMONY BECAUSE HE WAS NOT QUALIFIED UNDER RULE 702 AND BECAUSE HIS OPINIONS WERE IRRELEVANT, UNNECESSARY AND CUMULATIVE.

The trial court "is allowed considerable latitude of discretion in the admissibility of expert testimony, and in the absence of a clear showing of abuse, this court will not reverse." *Stevensen v. Goodson*, 924 P.2d 339, 347 (Utah 1996). The Wilsons designated Dr. Hyde as a purported expert to testify about Intermountain's market share for the purpose of generically suggesting that all defense witnesses were incapable of testifying truthfully because Intermountain is institutionally corrupt and exercises dominating control over everyone associated with it. The court correctly excluded this "expert" testimony on the grounds that Dr. Hyde was not qualified under Utah R. Evid. 702, and then permitted the Wilsons the opportunity to show individual grounds for bias with each individual witness based on their own particular circumstances.

1. The Court Properly Exercised Its Gatekeeper Function to Exclude Part of Dr. Hyde's Testimony Under Rule 702.

Dr. Hyde testified at trial. (R. 8613, Vol. 11, pp. 2121 - 2170.) However, with regard to a portion of Dr. Hyde's proposed testimony, the court properly exercised its assigned "gatekeeper responsibility to screen out unreliable expert testimony." *Utah R. Evid. 702 advisory committee's note* (requiring court to "confront the proposed expert testimony with rational skepticism."). Specifically, Dr. Hyde lacked foundation to opine as to Intermountain's alleged influence over witnesses and his theories offered no scientific reliability.

Dr. Hyde testified in deposition that "I had no occasion prior to being retained in this case to have studied Intermountain Health Care." (R. 5315, UVRMC's Mem. Supp. M. Strike, R. 5288:22-24, Ex. A to Mem.) When questioned about his background, Dr. Hyde admitted

"there are no specific issues that I would point to as being analogous between former positions and circumstances of this case" (*Id.*, R. 5309, R. 5275:4-8.) When questioned whether he was qualified to testify regarding a hospital misusing its power to intimidate witnesses, he said, "Do I know that this doctor or that doctor has been intimidated by any action of the defendants? **No, I'm not – I'm not qualified to, nor have I looked into that.**" (*Id.*, R. 5249:3-4) (emphasis added).

Dr. Hyde's proposed opinions are also not scientifically reliable or reliably applied to the facts. *Utah R. Evid.* 702(b). He never researched Intermountain before being retained to testify in this case. (*Id.*, R. 5315, R. 5288:22-24.) Most of Dr. Hyde's information came from the Wilsons' counsel (*id.*, R. 5285:22 - R. 5283:11), and based on this, Hyde opines: "[Intermountain] is known to me as the largest and most powerful hospital network, not only in this country but possibly in the world." (*Id.*, R. 5310, R. 5290:21-24.) These bold opinions were uniquely developed for this case, were not based on independent research, and are incapable of peer review. Thus, Dr. Hyde was properly excluded under Rule 702. *Minasian v. Standard Chartered Bank, PLC*, 109 F.3d 1212, 1216 (7th Cir. 1997) (exclusion proper where opinions "full of vigorous assertion . . . carefully tailored to support plaintiffs' position but devoid of analysis.").

2. Rather than Allowing Dr. Hyde's Collateral Side-Show, the Court Permitted the Wilsons to Attack the Bias of Each Witness Individually.

The court correctly excluded that part of Dr. Hyde's testimony that involved "a large collateral discussion which is not directly focused on the specific medical care of the Wilsons, but on the nature and character of the hospital defendant." (R. 8603, 10/28/08 Pretrial Hr'g, p. 317:21-24.) A detour into Intermountain's tax exempt status, its community relations, its

market concentration, and its relations with doctors and nurses in the community was designed only to prejudice the jury against an institution on matters irrelevant to the care provided by the Hospital in this case.⁴⁹ Rather than permitting Dr. Hyde's unqualified generalizations, the trial court allowed the Wilsons to attack bias of individual witnesses based on their particular financial or other ties to Intermountain. (*See, e.g.*, R. 8611, Vol. 9, pp. 1689:14 - 1693:7 [Dr. Minton];⁵⁰ R. 8614, Vol. 12, pp. 2449:6 - 2450:4 [Dr. Boyer].)⁵¹ The Wilsons' counsel also offered his view of Intermountain's market power and its impact on witnesses in closing argument. (R. 8621, Vol. 19, pp. 3771:1 - 3774:4.)

The trial court's discretion in excluding Dr. Hyde under Rule 702 and allowing the Wilsons to probe bias of individual witnesses was correctly exercised.

III. THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS INAPPLICABLE.

Reversal is not warranted under the cumulative error doctrine unless "the cumulative effect of the several errors undermines [this Court's] confidence . . . that a fair trial was held."

Utah Chapter of Sierra Club v. Air Quality Bd., 2009 UT 76, ¶ 54, 644 Utah Adv. Rep. 27 (errors

⁴⁹The trial court has considerable discretion in determining relevance and in weighing Dr. Hyde's peripheral probative value against time constraints and cumulative evidence concerns. *Larsen*, 958 P.2d at 956 (relevance); *State v. Vigil*, 922 P.2d 15, 27-28 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (403 ruling must be "beyond the limits of reasonability."). Dr. Hyde was also properly excluded under Rules 402 and 403.

⁵⁰During his examination of Dr. Minton, Wilsons' counsel was allowed to ask Dr. Minton if he was paid nearly \$800,000 from Intermountain in 2002, and if Intermountain could terminate Dr. Minton without cause if it gives him 90 days notice. (R. 8611, Vol. 9, pp. 1689:14 - 1693:7.)

⁵¹Wilson's counsel was allowed to challenge Dr. Boyer's bias by asserting that 95% of his business comes through Primary Children's Medical Center. (R. 8614, Vol. 12, pp. 2449:6 - 2450:10.)

alleged did not go to fairness of trial and therefore did not implicate cumulative error doctrine); *State v. Kohl*, 2000 UT 35, ¶ 25, 999 P.2d 7 (claimed errors either not errors or so minor as to result in no harm and therefore no relief under cumulative error doctrine). The Wilsons have raised only a single assertion of error related to the jury's verdict of no negligence (exclusion of nurse modules). As argued above, the modules were correctly excluded. The other evidentiary issues raised on appeal neither relate to the jury's verdict, nor are they meritorious. Even if one or more of these alleged errors are recognized, none determined the outcome and are harmless when considered in context. *Utah R. Civ. P.* 61; *Utah R. Evid.* 103(a). The cumulative error doctrine is therefore inapplicable.

IV. THE COURT ERRED IN TAXING COSTS AGAINST JARED, AS OPPOSED TO HIS PARENTS, AND COSTS FOR TRIAL TRANSCRIPTS SHOULD NOW BE AWARDED.

A. COSTS SHOULD BE TAXED AGAINST THE WILSONS UNDER RULE 54(D).

For purposes of its cross appeal, the Hospital asserts the trial court erred in taxing costs against Jared, as opposed to his parents. (*R. 8452-8458*, Ruling Re: Def. IHC's M. for Costs; *R. 8499-8501*, Ruling Re: Pl.'s Obj. to Prop. Order Re: Costs and Req. for Clarification; *R. 8502-8505*, Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part UVRMC's Verified Mem. of Costs; *R. 8594-8598*, Ruling Re: Pl.'s Obj. to Order and Req. for Clarification.) Whether costs may be assessed against parents who have initiated lawsuits on behalf of their minor children is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Madsen*, 2008 UT 69, ¶ 19.

Rule 54(d) provides that "costs shall be allowed as of course to the prevailing party." The rule contains no exceptions precluding cost awards against *guardians ad litem*. Some states have enacted statutes to address this issue. *See, e.g., Peterson v. Skiles*, 113 N.W.2d 628, 637 (Neb. 1962)

(Nebraska statute holding next friend liable for costs); *U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Henderson*, 55 S.W.2d 639, 639 (Tex. Civ. App. 1932) (same under Texas statute). Utah has not.

Where no statutory enactment immunizes a *guardian ad litem* from liability for costs, a *guardian ad litem* that is not subject to the control of the court should be subject to costs just as any other litigant who institutes an unsuccessful lawsuit.⁵² After all: "He it is who brings the suit into being. Without him, it would not exist. Without him, the defendant would not be put to costs." *Fisher v. Bell*, 63 S.E. 620, 620 (W. Va. 1909). Indeed, "[a]ny other rule would subject parties to the mercy of immature infants and irresponsible persons instituting suits on their behalf." *Id.*

Rule 54(d) allows prevailing defendants like the Hospital to recoup a small fraction of their litigation expenses from the parties responsible for initiating and pursuing unsuccessful lawsuits. It is improper to allow parents who instigate lawsuits on behalf of their minor children, to circumvent the proscriptions of Rule 54(d) solely upon the semantics in the caption of their

⁵²This is not a case where the court appointed a disinterested third-party to represent Jared's interests. In such a case, where the *guardian ad litem* is subject to the court's control, the assessment of costs could be inequitable and could discourage disinterested parties from assisting the courts. See *U.S. Fid. & Guar.*, 55 S.W.2d at 639 ("[A] guardian ad litem is not chargeable personally with the costs of the suit taxed against his ward . . . because his connection with the case is imposed by order of the court") In contrast, Jared's parents brought and vigorously pursued suit, only attempting to minimize their role once the Hospital sought its mandatory costs. At trial, the Wilsons sought to recover "past medical expenses **they have incurred** on Jared Wilson's behalf [and] [a]ny future medical expenses **they will incur** on his behalf." (R. 8602, Vol. 1, p. 292:5-9 (Jury Instruction No. 1).) (emphasis added) Those damages can only be recovered in Utah by the minor plaintiff's parents, not the minor plaintiff or the *guardian ad litem*. See *Ostertag v. La Mont*, 339 P.2d 1022, 1026 (Utah 1959). Finally, in settlement with other defendants below, the Wilsons settled "**individually** and as parents and guardians of Jared Wilson, a minor" (R. 8506-8511, Settlement Agreement) (emphasis added). The Wilsons clearly had something to gain by bringing this lawsuit and, like every other plaintiff under Rule 54(d), the Wilsons had something to lose by bringing this lawsuit.

complaint and their claims for relief. Unsuccessful plaintiffs should not escape their cost obligations based on artful pleading.⁵³

B. THE HOSPITAL CAN RECOVER THE COSTS FOR TRIAL TRANSCRIPTS USED ON APPEAL.

The Hospital sought the costs of trial transcripts, upon which the Wilsons, the Hospital and the court relied during trial. (R. 7588-7592) The court acknowledged the convenience of the daily transcripts - both to parties and to the court - but denied costs for the transcripts because the parties had the "option of utilizing the audio recording system." (R. 8454) Plaintiffs have resurrected this issue by appealing the underlying judgment. A litigant who pays for daily trial transcripts is entitled to recover its costs for those transcripts as a cost on appeal where the non-prevailing party in the trial court uses the transcripts on appeal. *Highland Constr. Co. v. Union Pac. R.R. Co.*, 683 P.2d 1042, 1052 (Utah 1984); *Utah R. App. P. 34(c)*.

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